NASA/CR-2001-211309



Interrelation Between Safety Factors and Reliability

Isaac Elishakoff Florida Atlantic University, Boca Raton, Florida

Prepared under Contract NAS3-98008

National Aeronautics and Space Administration

Glenn Research Center

November 2001

Acknowledgments

The research leading to this report was supported by the Intelligent Synthesis Environment Program as a part of the Non-Deterministic Methods Development Activity.

Available from

NASA Center for Aerospace Information 7121 Standard Drive Hanover, MD 21076 National Technical Information Service 5285 Port Royal Road Springfield, VA 22100

Available electronically at http://gltrs.grc.nasa.gov/GLTRS

Table of Contents

Part 1: Random Actual Stress and Deterministic Yield Stress

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Four Different Probabilistic Definitions of a Safety Factor
- 3. Case 1: Stress Has a Uniform Probability Density, Strength Is Deterministic
- 4. Case 2: Stress Has an Exponential Probability Density, Yield Stress Is Deterministic
- 5. Case 3: Stress Has a Rayleigh Probability Density, Yield Stress Is Deterministic
- 6. Case 4: Stress Has a Normal Probability Density, Yield Stress Is Deterministic
- 7. Case 5: Actual Stress Has a Log-Normal Probability Density, Yield Stress Is Deterministic
- 8. Case 6: Actual Stress Has a Weibull Probability Density, Strength Is Deterministic
- 9. Conclusion
- Part 2: Deterministic Actual Stress and Random Yield Stress
 - 1. Case 1: Yield Stress Has a Uniform Probability Density, Actual Stress Is Deterministic
 - 2. Case 2: Yield Stress Has An Exponential Probability Density, Actual Stress Is Deterministic
 - 3. Case 3: Strength Has a Rayleigh Probability Density, Actual Stress Is Deterministic
 - 4. Case 4: Various Factors of Safety in Buckling
 - 5. Case 5: Yield Stress Has a Weibull Probability Density, Actual Stress Is Deterministic

Conclusion

Part 3: Both Actual Stress and Yield Stress Are Random

- 1. Case 1: Both Actual Stress and Yield Stress Have Normal Probability Density
- 2. Case 2: Actual Stress Has an Exponential Density, Yield Stress Has a Normal Probability Density
- 3. Case 3: Actual Stress Has a Normal Probability Density, Strength Has an Exponential Probability Density
- 4. Case 4: Both Actual Stress and Yield Stress Have Log-Normal Probability Densities
- 5. Case 5: The Characteristic Safety Factor and The Design Safety Factor
- 6. Case 6: Asymptotic Analysis
- 7. Case 7: Actual Stress and Yield Stress Are Correlated
- 8. Case 8: Both Actual Stress and Yield Stress Follow the Pearson Probability Densities
- 9. Conclusion: Reliability and Safety Factor Can Peacefully Co-exist

Interrelation Between Safety Factors and Reliability: Part 1

Random Actual Stress & Deterministic Yield Stress

Isaac Elishakoff Department of Mechanical Engineering Florida Atlantic University Boca Raton, FL33431

> "The factor of safety was a useful invention of the engineer a long time ago that served him well. But it now quite outlived its usefulness and has become a serious threat to real progress in design" D. Faulkner

> "Current structural safety design practices are considered inadequate for future launch vehicles and spacecraft."

> > V. Verderaime

"[Deterministic safety measures] ignore much information which may be available about uncertainties in structural strengths or applied loads."

R. Melchers

1. Introduction

Attempts at probabilistic interpretation of the deterministic safety factor have been made in the literature despite the fact that the "spirits" of these two approaches are entirely different. Before discussing them, it is instructive to quote some representative excerpts from popular textbooks concerning its definition:

(a) "To allow for accidental overloading of the structure, as well as for possible inaccuracies in the construction and possible unknown variables in the analysis of

the structure, a factor of safety is normally provided by choosing an allowable stress (or working stress) below the proportional limit".

- (b) "Although not commonly used, perhaps a better term for this ratio is factor of ignorance".
- (c) "The need for the safety margin is apparent for many reasons: stress itself is seldom uniform; materials lack the homogeneous properties theoretically assigned to the abnormal loads might occur; manufacturing processes often impart dangerous stresses within the component. These and other factors make it necessary to select working stresses substantially below those known to cause failure".
- (d) "A factor of safety is used in the design of structures to allow for (1) uncertainty of loading. (2) the statistical variation of material strengths, (3) inaccuracies in geometry and theory, and (4) the grave consequences of failure of some structures".
- (e) "Factor of safety (N_{FS}), where $N_{FS} > 1$, is the ratio of material strength (usually ultimate strength or yield point) to actual or calculated stress. Alternatively, factor of safety can be defined as the ratio of load at failure to actual or calculated load. The factor of safety provides a margin of safety to account for uncetainties such as errors in predicting loading of a part, variations in material properties, and differences between the ideal model and actual material behavior" (Wilson, 1997).
- (f) "Choosing the safety factor is often a confusing proposition for the beginning designer. The safety factor can be thought of as a measure of the designer's

uncertainty in the analytical models, failure theories, and material property data used, and should be chosen accordingly ... Nothing is absolute in engineering any more than in any other endeavor. The strength of materials may vary from sample to sample. The actual size of different examples of the "same" parts made in quantity may vary due to manufacturing tolerance. As a result, we should take the statistical distributuions into account in our calculations." (Norton, 2000).

Freudenthal remarks [20] "... it seems absurd to strive for more and more refinement of methods of stress-analysis if in order to determine the dimensions of the structural elements, its results are subsequently compared with so called working stress, derived in a rather crude manner by dividing the values of somewhat dubious material parameters obtained in conventional materials tests by still more dubious empirical numbers called safety factors".

Indeed, it appears to the present writer that in addition to its role as a "safety" parameter for the structure, it is intended as "personal insurance" factor of sorts for the design companies.

2. Four Different Probabilistic Definitions of a Safety Factor

Consider an element subjected to a stress σ . Let it be a random variable, denoted by capital letter Σ , whereas a lower case notation describes the possible values σ that the random variable Σ may take. The strength characteristics say the yield stress may also be designated by upper case notation Σ_y , with σ_y being the possible values Σ_y may take. The various possible definitions of the safety factor s are

$$s_1 = \frac{E(\Sigma_y)}{E(\Sigma)} \tag{1}$$

which is referred to as the central safety; $E(\Sigma_y)$ denotes the mathematical expectation of Σ_y , while $E(\Sigma)$ is associated with the mathematical expectation of Σ .

On the other hand one can treat the ratio

$$Q = \frac{\Sigma_{y}}{\Sigma}$$
(2)

as a random variable. Its mathematical expectation

$$s_2 = E(Q) = E\left(\frac{\Sigma_y}{\Sigma}\right)$$
(3)

could be also interpreted as a safety factor. The third possible definition of the safety factor is

$$s_3 = E(\Sigma_y) E\left(\frac{1}{\Sigma}\right) \tag{4}$$

In specific cases some of the above safety factors may coincide. For example, when the yield stress is random, but the stress is a deterministic quantity, *i.e.* takes a single value σ with unity probability, we have

$$s_1 = s_2 = s_3 \tag{5}$$

If stress is random, but yield stress is a deterministic quantity σ_y , then

$$s_2 = s_3 \tag{6}$$

The fourth definition of the safety factor was proposed by Birger (1970). He considered the probability distribution function of the random variable Q

$$F_{\mathcal{Q}}(q) = \Pr \operatorname{ob}\left(\frac{\Sigma_{y}}{\Sigma} \le q\right)$$
(7)

Then he demands this function to equal some value p_0 :

$$F_{\mathcal{Q}}(q) = \Pr \operatorname{ob}\left(\frac{\Sigma_{y}}{\Sigma} \le q\right) = p_{0}$$
(8)

The value of $q = q_0$ that corresponds to the p_0 th fractile of the distribution function $F_Q(q)$ is declared as the safety factor. This implies, that of $p_0 = 0.01$, and say $q_0 = 1$, that in about 99% of the realizations of the structure the deterministic safety factor will be not less than 13.

We are asking ourselves the following question: Can we express the safety factors by probabilistic characterization of the structural performance? The central idea of the probabilistic design of structures is reliability, *i.e.* probability that the structure will perform its mission adequately, as required. In our context the mission itself is defined deterministically, namely we are interested in the event

$$\Sigma < \Sigma_{y} \tag{9}$$

i.e. that the actual stress is less than the yield stress.

Since both Σ and Σ_y may take values from a finite or infinite range of values, the inequality (9) will not always take place. For some realizations of random variables Σ and Σ_y the inequality may be satisfied, whereas for the other ones it may be violated. Engineers are interested in the probability that the inequality (9) will hold. Such a probability is called *reliability*, denoted by *R*

$$R = \Pr \operatorname{ob}(\Sigma \le \Sigma_{\nu}) \tag{10}$$

Its complement

$$P_f = 1 - R = \Pr \operatorname{ob}(\Sigma \ge \Sigma_{\nu}) \tag{11}$$

is called the probability of failure. It is a probability that the stress will be equal to or will exceed the yield stress. It is understandable that engineers want to achieve a very high reliability, allowing, if at all, a extremely small probability of failure.

It appears, at the first glance, that the approaches, based on the deterministic allocation of the safety factors, or that based on reliability design are totally contradictory. We will pursue this subject in more detail. In this report and its companion (report #2), we discuss particular cases, whereas at a later stage (in our report #3) we will pursue the general case, in which *both* Σ and Σ_y will be treated as random variables.

3. Case 1: Stress Has an Uniform Probability Density, Strength Is Deterministic

Let the stress Σ be a random variable with the uniform probability density

$$f_{\Sigma}(\sigma) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\sigma_{U} - \sigma_{L}}, & \text{for } \sigma_{L} < \sigma < \sigma_{U} \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(12)

where σ_L is the lowest value that the stress may take, whereas σ_U is the greatest value the stress may assume. We treat the yield stress Σ_y to be a deterministic quantity, *i.e.* to take a single value σ_y with unity probability. The probability distribution function

$$F_{\Sigma}(\sigma) = \operatorname{Prob}(\Sigma \leq \sigma) = \int_{-\infty}^{\sigma} f_{\Sigma}(\alpha) d\alpha$$
(13)

reads

$$F_{\Sigma}(\sigma) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{for } \sigma < \sigma_{L} \\ \frac{\sigma - \sigma_{L}}{\sigma_{U} - \sigma_{L}}, & \text{for } \sigma_{L} \le \sigma < \sigma_{U} \\ 1, & \text{for } \sigma_{U} \le \sigma \end{cases}$$
(14)

The reliability reads

$$R = \Pr ob(\Sigma \le \Sigma_v) = \Pr ob(\Sigma \le \sigma_v)$$
(15)

or, in light of Eq. (13) we get

$$R = F_{\Sigma}(\sigma_{v}) \tag{16}$$

In other words, the reliability equals the stress distribution function F_{Σ} evaluated at the yield stress (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 Reliability equals the probability distribution function of the actual stress evaluated at the level of yield stress

Bearing in mind Eq. (14) we get

$$R = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{for } \sigma_y < \sigma_L \\ \frac{\sigma_y - \sigma_L}{\sigma_U - \sigma_L}, & \text{for } \sigma_L \le \sigma_y < \sigma_U \\ 1, & \text{for } \sigma_U \le \sigma_y \end{cases}$$
(17)

This formula can be rewritten in more convenient form. We note that the mean value of the stress equals

$$E(\Sigma) = \frac{1}{2}(\sigma_L + \sigma_U)$$
(18)

whereas the variance of the stress equals

$$Var(\Sigma) = \frac{1}{12} (\sigma_U - \sigma_L)^2$$
(19)

From these two equations we first express the denominator in Eq. (17)

$$\sigma_U - \sigma_L = \sqrt{12 Var(\Sigma)}$$
(20)

as well as the lowest possible value the stress can take

$$\sigma_{L} = \frac{2E(\Sigma) - \sqrt{12Var(\Sigma)}}{2}$$

$$= E(\Sigma) - \sqrt{3Var(\Sigma)}$$
(21)

Let

$$\sigma_L \le \sigma < \sigma_U \tag{22}$$

then, in accordance with Eq. (17), we have

$$R = \frac{\sigma_{y} - E(\Sigma) - \sqrt{3Var(\Sigma)}}{2\sqrt{3Var(\Sigma)}}$$
(23)

By dividing both the numerator and the denominator by the mean stress $E(\Sigma)$, and introducing the coefficient of variation of the actual stress

$$v_{\Sigma} = \frac{\sqrt{Var(\Sigma)}}{E(\Sigma)}$$
(24)

we get, instead of Eq. (23)

$$R = \frac{s_1 - 1 - \sqrt{3}v_{\Sigma}}{2\sqrt{3}v_{\Sigma}}$$
(25)

As is seen reliability is *directly* expressed in terms of the central safety factor s_1 and the coefficient of variation of the involved random variable v_{Σ} . Thus, the reliability methods allow to *rigorously*, rather than *arbitrarily* introduce the safety factors. The safety factor s_1 is expressed from Eq. (25) as follows

$$s_1 = 1 + \sqrt{3}v_{\Sigma}(1 + 2R) \tag{26}$$

Maximum value of the safety factor is achieved when the reliability tends to unity from below

$$s_{1,\max} \approx 3\sqrt{3}v_{\Sigma} + 1 \tag{27}$$

For example, for coefficient of variation 0.05 the safety factor assumes the value 1.26; for the coefficient of variation 0.1 the safety factor equals 1.52; for coefficient of variation 0.15 it takes a value 1.78 *etc.* We conclude that with greater variation of the involved random variable, the safety factor must be *increased.* This *qualitative* conclusion is in line with our anticipation. Yet, it is seen that the reliability context allows one to make *quantitative* judgements in terms of the *required reliability* and the *coefficient of variability*.

4. Case 2: Stress Has an Exponential Probability Density, Yield Stress Is Deterministic

Consider now that the stress has an exponential probability density

$$f_{\Sigma}(\sigma) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{for } \sigma < 0\\ a \exp(-a\sigma), & \text{for } \sigma \ge 0 \end{cases}$$
(28)

The corresponding probability distribution function reads

$$F_{\Sigma}(\sigma) = \operatorname{Prob}(\Sigma \le \sigma_{y}) = [1 - \exp(-a\sigma)]U(\sigma)$$
(29)

where $U(\sigma)$ is the unit step function; it equals unity for positive γ and vanishes otherwise. The parameter *a* is reciprocal to mean value of stress

$$E(\Sigma) = \frac{1}{a} \tag{30}$$

Also, since parameter a is the only free parameter in the density (28) *all* probabilistic moments depend solely upon it. Thus, variance also is expressible in terms of a, as follows:

$$Var(\Sigma) = \frac{1}{a^2}$$
(31)

Since the coefficient of variation

$$v_{\Sigma} = \frac{\sqrt{Var(\Sigma)}}{E(\Sigma)} = \frac{1/a}{1/a} = 1$$
(32)

is unity, or 100%, we must anticipate high levels of safety factor, in order to ensure the high level of required reliability. The latter equals, in view of Eq. (19)

$$R = \Pr{ob(\Sigma \le \sigma_y)}$$

= $[1 - \exp(-a\sigma_y)]U(\sigma_y)$ (33)

We first express a from Eq. (30) as

$$a = 1/E(\Sigma) \tag{34}$$

and substitute it into Eq. (33), to arrive at

$$R = \left[1 - \exp\left(-\frac{\sigma_y}{E(\Sigma)}\right)\right] U(\sigma_y)$$
(35)

In view of the central safety factor s_1 , Eq. (35) is rewritten as

$$R = [1 - \exp(-s)]U(\sigma_y)$$
(36)

As is seen, a *direct* relationship is being established between the safety factor and the reliability. Once the required reliability is specified the associated safety factor equals

$$s = \ln \frac{1}{1-R} \tag{37}$$

For example, reliability of 0.9 leads to the safety factor 2.3; the reliability of 0.95 results in safety 3 *etc.* Such high values, as indicated above stem from the fact that the stress exponential probability density is associated with high, namely 100% variability. It is immediately seen, that one of the reasons for the high variations in this particular case is the fact that the stress can take any value on the positive axis.

5. Case 3: Stress Has a Rayleigh Probability Density, Yield Stress is Deterministic

Consider now the case in which the stress is characterized by a Rayleigh probability density:

$$f_{\Sigma}(\sigma) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{for } \sigma < 0 \\ \frac{\sigma}{b^2} \exp(-\frac{\sigma^2}{2b^2}), & \text{for } \sigma \ge 0 \end{cases}$$
(38)

The approximate probability distribution function is

$$F_{\Sigma}(\sigma) = \operatorname{Prob}(\Sigma \leq \sigma) = \int_{-\infty}^{\sigma} f_{\Sigma}(\alpha) d\alpha = \left[1 - \exp\left(-\frac{\sigma^2}{2b^2}\right)\right] U(\sigma)$$
(39)

The reliability evaluation reads:

$$R = \Pr \operatorname{ob}(\Sigma \le \sigma_y) = F_{\Sigma}(\sigma_y) \tag{40}$$

Again, the reliability equals the probability distribution function of the stress evaluated at the level of the yield stress. Hence, in view of Eq. (39)

$$R = \left[1 - \exp\left(-\frac{\sigma_{y}^{2}}{2b^{2}}\right)\right] U(\sigma_{y})$$
(41)

We would like now to express parameter b in Eqs. (38) and (39) through the probabilistic characterization of the stress:

$$E(\Sigma) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \sigma f_{\Sigma}(\sigma) d\sigma = \frac{b\sqrt{\pi}}{\sqrt{2}} \approx 1.25b$$
(42)

$$Var(\Sigma) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (\sigma - E(\Sigma))^2 f_{\Sigma}(\sigma) d\sigma$$

$$= \frac{4 - \pi}{2} b^2 \approx 0.43 b^2$$
(43)

We express b from Eq. (42)

$$b \approx \frac{E(\Sigma)}{1.25} = 0.8E(\Sigma) \tag{44}$$

and substitute it into Eq. (41) to yield

$$R = \left\{ 1 - \exp\left(-\frac{\sigma_{y}^{2}}{2[0.8E(\Sigma)]^{2}}\right) \right\} U(\sigma_{y})$$

$$= \left\{ 1 - \exp\left(-\frac{0.78125\sigma_{y}^{2}}{[E(\Sigma)]^{2}}\right) \right\} U(\sigma_{y})$$
(45)

We take into account the definition of the central safety factor to get

$$R = [1 - \exp(-0.78125s_1^2)]U(\sigma_v)$$
(46)

This formula allows to express the safety factor by the reliability

$$s \approx 1.13 \sqrt{\ln \frac{1}{1-R}} \tag{47}$$

Thus, the reliability R = 0.9 yields in central safety factor 1.71, the reliability of 0.95 results in safety factor 1.96. The required reliability of 0.99 is associated with safety factor 2.42 *etc.* Again, reason for these values is the high coefficient of variation. Indeed, Eqs. (42) and (43) suggest that the coefficient of variation equals:

$$v_{\Sigma} = \frac{\sqrt{Var(\Sigma)}}{E(\Sigma)} \approx \frac{\sqrt{0.43b^2}}{1.25b} = 0.52$$
 (48)

Although this is a smaller variability than in the case of the stress with exponential probability density, still, hopefully, 52% variation is seldom encountered in practice.

6. Case 4: Stress Has a Normal Probability Density, Yield Stress Is Deterministic

We consider now the case in which the stress is characterized by a normal probability density

$$f_{\Sigma}(\sigma) = \frac{1}{b\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\sigma-a}{b}\right)^2\right], \quad -\infty < \sigma < \infty$$
(49)

The distribution function reads

$$F_{\Sigma}(\sigma) = \frac{1}{b\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{-\infty}^{\sigma} \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{t-a}{b}\right)^{2}\right] dt$$

= $\Phi\left(\frac{\sigma-a}{b}\right)$ (50a)

$$\Phi(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{-\infty}^{x} \exp\left(\left(-\frac{1}{2}t^{2}\right) dt\right)$$
(50b)

where a is the mean stress, and b is the mean square deviation,

$$E(\Sigma) = a \tag{51}$$

$$Var(\Sigma) = b^2 \tag{52}$$

The reliability equals

$$R = \Pr ob(\Sigma < \sigma_y) = F_{\Sigma}(\sigma_y) = \Phi\left(\frac{\sigma_y - a}{b}\right)$$
(53)

or with Eq. (50) taken into account

$$R = \Phi\left(\frac{\sigma_y - E(\Sigma)}{\sqrt{Var(\Sigma)}}\right)$$
(54)

Dividing both the numerator and the denominator by $E(\Sigma)$ we rewrite Eq. (53) as follows:

$$R = \Phi\left(\frac{s_1 - 1}{v_{\Sigma}}\right)$$
(55)

where s_1 is the central safety factor, v_{Σ} is the coefficient variation of the stress. Eq. (54) allows again to express the safety factor via the reliability

$$s_1 = 1 + v_{\Sigma} \Phi^{-1}(R)$$
 (56)

where $\Phi^{-1}(R)$ is a function that is inverse to $\Phi(R)$.

We note the following values of the inverse normal probability function (Benjamin and Cornell, 1970, p. 655)

$$\Phi^{-1}(0.9) = \Phi^{-1}(1-10^{-1}) = 1.28$$

$$\Phi^{-1}(0.99) = \Phi^{-1}(1-10^{-2}) = 2.32$$

$$\Phi^{-1}(0.999) = \Phi^{-1}(1-10^{-3}) = 3.09$$

$$\Phi^{-1}(0.9 \ 999) = \Phi^{-1}(1-10^{-4}) = 3.72$$

$$\Phi^{-1}(0.99 \ 999) = \Phi^{-1}(1-10^{-5}) = 4.27$$

$$\Phi^{-1}(0.99 \ 999) = \Phi^{-1}(1-10^{-6}) = 4.75$$
(57)
$$\Phi^{-1}(0.9 \ 999 \ 999) = \Phi^{-1}(1-10^{-7}) = 5.20$$

$$\Phi^{-1}(0.99 \ 999 \ 999) = \Phi^{-1}(1-10^{-8}) = 5.61$$

$$\Phi^{-1}(0.99 \ 999 \ 999) = \Phi^{-1}(1-10^{-9}) = 6.00$$

$$\Phi^{-1}(0.9 \ 999 \ 999 \ 999) = \Phi^{-1}(1-10^{-10}) = 6.36$$

$$\Phi^{-1}(0.99 \ 999 \ 999 \ 999) = \Phi^{-1}(1-10^{-11}) = 6.71$$

Thus, the safety factor becomes, for the coefficient of variation equal 0.05, respectively

$$s_{1} = 0.05\Phi^{-1}(0.9) = 1.064, \text{ for } R = 1 - 10^{-1}$$

$$s_{1} = 0.05\Phi^{-1}(0.99) = 1.116, \text{ for } R = 1 - 10^{-2}$$

$$s_{1} = 0.05\Phi^{-1}(0.999) = 1.155, \text{ for } R = 1 - 10^{-3}$$

$$s_{1} = 0.05\Phi^{-1}(0.9999) = 1.186, \text{ for } R = 1 - 10^{-4}$$

$$s_{1} = 0.05\Phi^{-1}(0.999999) = 1.2135, \text{ for } R = 1 - 10^{-5}$$

$$s_{1} = 0.05\Phi^{-1}(0.9999999) = 1.2375, \text{ for } R = 1 - 10^{-6}$$

$$s_{1} = 0.05\Phi^{-1}(0.9999999) = 1.26, \text{ for } R = 1 - 10^{-7}$$

$$s_{1} = 0.05\Phi^{-1}(0.99999999) = 1.2805, \text{ for } R = 1 - 10^{-8}$$

$$s_{1} = 0.05\Phi^{-1}(0.99999999) = 1.3, \text{ for } R = 1 - 10^{-9}$$

$$s_{1} = 0.05\Phi^{-1}(0.99999999999) = 1.318, \text{ for } R = 1 - 10^{-10}$$

$$s_{1} = 0.05\Phi^{-1}(0.999999999999999) = 1.3355, \text{ for } R = 1 - 10^{-11}$$

As is een, there is direct relationship between the safety factor and required reliability. One can suggest asymptotic relationship between the safety factor and reliability. One observes from Eq. (57) that the knowledge of the coefficient of variation (the ratio between the standard deviation and the mean) and required reliability directly yields the level of the required safety factor.

7. Case 5: Actual Stress Has a Log-Normal Probability Density, Yield Stress is Deterministic

Consider now the case in which the actual stress Σ is distributed log-normally, with the following probability density function:

$$f_{\Sigma}(\sigma) = \frac{1}{\sigma b_{\Sigma} \sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left[-\frac{(\ln \sigma - a_{\Sigma})^2}{2b_{\Sigma}^2}\right], \quad \sigma > 0$$
(59)

and vanishes otherwise. The mean value of the stress equals

$$E(\Sigma) = \exp(a_{\Sigma} + \frac{1}{2}b_{\Sigma}^{2})$$
(60)

whereas the variance reads:

$$Var(\Sigma) = \exp(2a_{\Sigma} + b_{\Sigma}^{2})[\exp(b_{\Sigma}^{2}) - 1]$$
(61)

The reliability equals

$$R = \operatorname{Prob}(\Sigma \le \sigma_{v}) = F_{\Sigma}(\sigma_{v})$$
(62)

The probability distribution function for the log-normal variable Σ is

$$F_{\Sigma}(\sigma) = \int_{0}^{\sigma} \frac{1}{t b_{\Sigma} \sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left[-\left(\frac{\ln t - a_{\Sigma}}{b_{\Sigma}}\right)^{2}\right] dt$$
(63)

We make a substitution

$$\frac{\ln t - a_{\Sigma}}{b_{\Sigma}} = z \tag{64}$$

to obtain

$$F_{\Sigma}(\sigma) = \int_{0}^{\frac{\ln \sigma - a_{\Sigma}}{b_{\Sigma}}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}z^{2}\right) dt$$

$$= \Phi\left(\frac{\ln \sigma - a_{\Sigma}}{b_{\Sigma}}\right)$$
(65)

In view of Eq. (65), expression for the reliability

$$R = \Phi\left(\frac{\ln\sigma_y - a_{\Sigma}}{b_{\Sigma}}\right)$$
(66)

Central safety factor equals

$$s_1 = \frac{\sigma_y}{E(\Sigma)} = \frac{\sigma_y}{\exp(a_{\Sigma} + \frac{1}{2}b_{\Sigma}^2)}$$
(67)

Knowing parameters a_{Σ} and b_{Σ} determines both the central safety factor and the reliability.

On the other hand, if $E(\Sigma)$ and $Var(\Sigma)$ are given, one needs the formula of transformation from Eqs. (60) and (61). We substitute Eq. (67) into Eq. (66) to get

$$R = \Phi\left(\frac{\ln \sigma_{y} - \ln E(\Sigma) - \frac{1}{2}\left\{\ln[E^{2}(\Sigma) + Var(\Sigma)] - \ln[E^{2}(\Sigma)]\right\}}{\sqrt{\ln[E^{2}(\Sigma) + Var(\Sigma)] - \ln[E^{2}(\Sigma)]}}\right)$$
(68)

Thus, the find formula can be rewritten as:

$$R = \Phi\left(\frac{\ln s_1 - \frac{1}{2}[\ln(1 + v_{\Sigma}^2)]}{\sqrt{\ln(1 + v_{\Sigma}^2)}}\right)$$
(69)

We are unaware of the other derivation of this expression.

B. Case 6: Actual Stress Has a Weibull Probability Density, Strength is Deterministic

Let us study the case of the probability of the distribution function stress

$$F_{\Sigma}(\sigma) = \exp\left[-\exp\left(\frac{a_{\Sigma} - \sigma}{b_{\Sigma}}\right)\right]$$
(70)

The reliability, therefore, is given by

$$R = F_{\Sigma}(\sigma_{y}) = \exp\left[-\exp\left(\frac{a_{\Sigma} - \sigma_{y}}{b_{\Sigma}}\right)\right]$$
(71)

According to Haldar and Mahadevan (2000) who do not deal with the material in this section, but use the Weibull distribution, the mean value and the variance can be expressed via a_{Σ} and b_{Σ} analytically. In our setting their formulas read:

.

$$\frac{1}{b_{\Sigma}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\sigma}} \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{Var(\Sigma)}}$$

$$a_{\Sigma} = E(\Sigma) - 0.5772b_{\Sigma}$$
(72)

Thus,

$$E(\Sigma) = a_{\Sigma} + 0.5772b_{\Sigma} \tag{73}$$

$$Var(\Sigma) = \frac{\pi^2}{6} b_{\Sigma}^2$$
(74)

Reliability becomes:

$$R = \exp\left[-\exp\left(\frac{E(\Sigma) - 0.5772\frac{\sqrt{6Var(\Sigma)}}{\pi} - \sigma_{y}}{\frac{\sqrt{6Var(\Sigma)}}{\pi}}\right)\right]$$
(75)

or, dividing both numerator and denominator by $E(\Sigma)$ and recalling definition of the central safety factor $s_1 = \sigma_y / E(\Sigma)$ and of the coefficient of variation of the actual stress $v_{\Sigma} = \sqrt{Var(\Sigma)} / E(\Sigma)$ we get

$$R = \exp\left[-\exp\left(\frac{1 - 0.45v_{\Sigma} - s_{1}}{0.78v_{\Sigma}}\right)\right]$$
(76)

This formula too apparently is given for the first time. It connects the reliability with the central safety factor s_1 and the variability v_{Σ} . Conversely, if the required reliability is specified, one can directly determine the safety factor

$$s_1 = 1 - v_{\Sigma} \left[0.78 \ln \left(\ln \frac{1}{R} \right) - 0.45 \right]$$
 (77)

The following values are obtained for $v_{\Sigma} = 0.05$:

$$R = 0.9, \qquad s_1 = 1.11$$

$$R = 0.95, \qquad s_1 = 1.14$$

$$R = 0.99, \qquad s_1 = 1.18$$

$$R = 0.999, \qquad s_1 = 1.29$$

$$R = 0.9 \quad 999, \qquad s_1 = 1.36$$

$$R = 0.99 \quad 999, \qquad s_1 = 1.45$$
(78)

For $v_{\Sigma} = 0.1$ we get

$$R = 0.9, \qquad s_1 = 1.22$$

$$R = 0.95, \qquad s_1 = 1.28$$

$$R = 0.99, \qquad s_1 = 1.36$$

$$R = 0.999, \qquad s_1 = 1.58$$

$$R = 0.9 \ 999, \qquad s_1 = 1.72$$

$$R = 0.99 \ 999, \qquad s_1 = 1.90$$
(79)

9. Conclusion

As is observed from this report the use of the safety factor is not contradictory to the employment of the probabilistic methods. Moreover, in many cases the safety factors can be directly expressed by the required reliability levels. However, there is a major difference that must be emphasized: whereas the safety factors are allocated in an *ad hoc* manner, the probabilistic approach offers a unified mathematical framework. The establishment of the interrelation between the concepts opens an avenue for rational of safety factors, based on reliability.

If there are several forms of failure then the allocation of safety factors should be based on having the *same* reliability associated with each failure modes. This immediately suggests, that by the probabilistic methods the existing overdesign or underdesign can be eliminated.

This is done by calibration of the reliability levels with one of the safety factors that is already accepted. Thus, via such an approach, the other failure modes' safety factors can be established.

This is illustrated fig. 2, which shows that presently safety factor are assigned in an *ad hoc* manner to each failure mode, but there is no interrelation between them. Fig. 3 illustrates the consistent allocation of the safety factors can be performed.

The report No. 2 deals with the reverse case, namely when the actual stress is deterministic, but the yield stress is random. Report No. 3 will discuss the general case in which *both* the actual stress and the yield stress are treated as random quantities with the attendant interrelationship between the reliability and safety factors.



Fig. 2 Present Status: No Connection Between Safety Factors, Leading to Overdesign or Underdesign



Fig. 3 Future Status: Equal Reliability Allocation May Connect Dafety Factors

References

- Ang A. H-S. and Amin M., Safety Factors and Probability in Structural Design, Journal of Structural Division, Vol. 95, pp. 1389-1404, 1969.
- Ang, A. H.-S. and Tang, W. H.: Probability Concepts in Engineering, Planning and Design, Vol. 2, Wiley, New York, 1984.
- 3. Augusti, G., Baratta, A. and Casciati, F.: Probabilistic Methods in Structural Engineering, Chapman and Hall, London, 1984.
- 4. Benjamin, J. R. and Cornell, C. A.: Probability, Statistics and Decision for Cicil Engineers, McGraw Hill, New York, 1970.
- Birger I. A., Probability of Failure, Safety Factors and Diagnostics, Problems of Mechanics of Solid Bodies, "Sudostroenve" Publishers, Leningrad, 1970, pp. 71-82 (in Russian).
- Bolotin, V.V: Application of the Methods of the Theory of Probability and the Theory of Reliability to Analysis of Structures, State Publishing House for Buildings, Moscow, 1971, (in Russian). English translation: FTD-MT-24-771-73, Foreign Technology Div., Wright Patterson AFB, Ohio, 1974.
- Bolotin, V. V.: Wahrscheinlichkeitsmethoden zur Berechnung von Konstruktionen, VEB Verlag für Bauwesen, Berlin, 1981 (in German).
- Cornell, C. A.: Probability-based Structural Code, ACI Journal, Vol. 66, 1969, 974-985.
- Cornell, C. A.: Structural Safety: Some Historical Evidence That It is a Healthy Adolescent, "Structural Safety and Reliability", T. Moan and M. Shinozuka, eds., Elsevier Scientific Publishing Company, Amsterdam, 1981, 19-29.

- 10. Ditlevsen, O.: Uncertainty Modeling with Applications to Multidimensional Civil Engineering Systems, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1981.
- 11. Ditlevsen, O.: Structural Reliability Methods, SBI, 1990 (in Danish).
- 12. Ekimov, V. V.: Probabilistic Methods in the Structural Mechanics of Ships, "Sudostroenie" Publishing House, Leningrad, 1966 (in Russian).
- 13. Elishakoff, I.: Probabilistic Theory of Structures, Dover, New York, 1999 (first edition: Wiley, 1983).
- 14. Faulkner D., Safety Factors?, Steel Plated Structures, An International Symposium (P. J. Dow;ing, J. Z. Harding and P. A. Fieze, eds.), Crosby Lockwood Staples, London.
- Ferry Borges, J. and Castanheta, M.: Structural Safety, 2nd Ed., National Civil Eng. Lab., Lisbon, Portugal, 1971.
- Freudenthal, A. M.: Safety of Structures, *Transactions ASCE*, Vol. 112, 125-180, 1947.
- 17. Freudenthal A. M., The Safety Factor, *The Inelastic Behavior of Engineering* Materials and Structures, Wiley, New York, pp. 477-480, 1950.
- Freudenthal, A. M.: Safety and Probability of Structural Failure, *Transactions ASCE*, Vol. 121, 1337-1375, 1956.
- 19. Ghiocel, D. and Lungu, D.: Wind, Snow and Temperature Effects on Structures Based on Probability, Abacus Press, Turnbridge Wells, Kent, UK, 1975.
- 20. Haldar A. and Mahadevan S., Probability, Reliability and Statistical Methods in Engineering Design, Wiley, New York, p. 90, 2000.

- 21. Hart, G. C.: Uncertainty Analysis, Loads, and Safety in Structural Engineering, Prentice Hall, Inc., Englewood Cliffs, N. J., 1982.
- Haugen, E. B.: Probabilistic Mechanical Design, Wiley-Interscience, New York, p. 68, 1980.
- Johnson, A. I.: Strength, Safety and Economical Dimension of Structures, Bulletin No. 12, Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm, 1953.
- 24. Kapur, K. S. and Lamberson, L. R.: Reliability in Engineering Design, Wiley, New York, 1977.
- 25. Leporati, E.: The Assessment of Structural Safety, Research Studies Press, Forest Groves, Oregon, 1977.
- 26. Levi, R.: Calculs probabilistes de la sécurité des constructions, Ann. Ponts et Chaussées, Vol. 119, No. 4, 1949, 493-539.
- 27. Madsen, H. O., Krenk, S. and Lind, N. C.: Methods of Structural Safety, Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, 1986.
- 28. Melchers, R. E.: Structural Reliability and Predictions, Ellis Horwood, London, 1987.
- Melchers, R. E.: Structural Reliability Analysis and Predictions, Wiley, Chichester, p. 23, 1999.
- 30. Millers I. and Freund J. E., Tolerance Limits, *Probability and Statistics for Engineers*, Prentice hall, Englewood Cliffs, pp. 514-517, 1977.
- 31. Murzewski, J.: Bezpieczenstwo Konstrukeji Budowlanych, "Arkady" Publishing House, Warsaw, 1970 (in Polish).

- 32. Murzewski, J.: Niezawodnosc Konstrukcji Inzynierskich, Arkady, Warszawa, 1989 (in Polish).
- 33. My D. T. and Massoud M., On the Relation between the Factor of Safety and Reliability, *Journal of Engineering for Industry*, Vol. 96, pp. 853-857, 1974.
- 34. My D. T. and Massoud M., On the Probabilistic Distributions of Stress and Strength in Design Problems, *Journal of Engineering for Industry*, Vol. 97 (3), pp. 986-993, 1975.
- 35. Neal D. M., Mattew W. T. and Vangel M. G., Model Sensitivities in Stress-Strength Reliability Computations, Materials Technology Laboratory, TR 91-3, Watertown, MA, Jan. 1991.
- 36. Norton R. L., *Machine Design*, Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ, pp. 19, 22; 2000.
- 37. Nowak A. S. and Collins K. R., Reliability of Strucutres, McGraw Hill, Boston, 2000.
- 38. Olszak, W., Kaufman, S., Elmer C. and Bychawski, Z.: Teoria Konstrukcji Sprezonych, Warszawa, Panstwowe Wydawnictwo Naukowe, 1961 (in Polish).
- 39. Rao S. S., Reliability Based Design, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1992.
- 40. Rzhanitsyn, A. R.: Design of Construction with Materials' Plastic Properties Taken into Account, Gosudarstvennoe Izdatel'stvo Literatury Po Stroitel'stvu i Arkhitekture, Moscow, 1954, (second edition), Chapter 14 (in Russian). (see also a French translation: A. R. Rjanitsyn: Calcul à la rupture et plasticité des constructions, Eyrolles, Paris, 1959).

- 41. Rzhanitsyn, A. R.: Theory of Reliability Design of Civil Engineering Structures, "Stroyizdat" Publishing House, Moscow, 1978 (in Russian) (see also a Japanese translation, 1982).
- 42. Schuëller, G. I.: Einführung in die Sicherheit und Zuverlässigkeit von Tragwerken, Verlag von Wilhelm Ernst & Sohn, Berlin, 1981 (in German).
- 43. Shinozuka, M.: Basic Analysis of Structural Safety, ASCE Journal of Structural Engineering, Vol. 59, No. 3, 1983, 721-740.
- 44. Smith, G. N.: Probability and Statistics in Civil Engineering, Collins Professional and Technical Books, London, 1986.
- 45. Streletsky, N. S.: Statistical Basis of the Safety Factor of Structures, "Stroyizdat" Publishing House, Moscow, 1947 (in Russian).
- 46. Thoft-Christensen, P. and Baker, M. J.: Structural Reliability Theory and Its Applications, Springer Verlag, Berlin, 1982.
- 47. Tye, W.: Factors of Safety- or a Habit?, Journal of Royal Aeronautical Cociety, Vol.
 48, 1944, 487-494.
- 48. Verderaine V., Aerostructural Safety Factor Criteria using Deterministic Reliability, Journal of Spacecraft and Rockets, Vol. 30 (2), 244-247, 1993.
- 49. Wilson Ch. E., Computer Integrated Machine Design, Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ, p. 22, 1997.

Interrelation Between Safety Factors and Reliability: Part 2

Deterministic Actual Stress & Random Yield Stress

I. Elishakoff Department of Mechanical Engineering Florida Atlantic University Boca Raton, FL 33432

In the previous report we studied the case in which the actual stress was treated as a random variable, while the yield stress was considered as a deterministic quantity. In this report we investigate the reverse case, namely, when the actual stress is deterministic, while the yield stress is treated as a random variable. Various probability densities to model the actual behavior of the structural element in question are considered.

Case 1: Yields Stress Has an Uniform Probability Density, Actual Stress is Deterministic

Let the yield stress have an uniform probability density

$$f_{\Sigma_{y}}(\sigma_{y}) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\sigma_{y,U} - \sigma_{y,L}} & \text{for } \sigma_{y,L} < \sigma < \sigma_{y,U} \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(1)

where $\sigma_{y,L}$ is the lower possible level the yield stress may take; $\sigma_{y,U}$ is the upper possible level the yield stress may assume.

The probability distribution function of the yield stress reads

$$F_{\Sigma_{y}}(\sigma_{y}) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{for } \sigma_{y} < \sigma_{y,L} \\ \frac{\sigma_{y} - \sigma_{y,L}}{\sigma_{y,U} - \sigma_{y,L}} & \text{for } \sigma_{y,L} \le \sigma_{y} < \sigma_{y,U} \\ 1, & \text{for } \sigma_{y,U} \le \sigma_{y} \end{cases}$$
(2)

The reliability equals

$$R = \Pr ob(\Sigma \le \Sigma_{y}) = \Pr ob(\sigma \le \Sigma_{y})$$

=
$$\Pr ob(\Sigma_{y} \ge \sigma) = 1 - \Pr ob(\Sigma_{y} \le \sigma)$$
(3)

Thus, in view Eq. (2), we get

$$R = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{for } \sigma_{y} < \sigma_{y,L} \\ 1 - \frac{\sigma - \sigma_{y,L}}{\sigma_{y,U} - \sigma_{y,L}} & \text{for } \sigma_{y,L} \le \sigma_{y} < \sigma_{y,U} \\ 0, & \text{for } \sigma_{y,U} \le \sigma_{y} \end{cases}$$
(4)

Consider the case in which the yield stress belongs to the interval $[\sigma_{y,L}, \sigma_{y,U}]$. In this case from Eq. (4) we have for the reliability

$$R = \frac{\sigma_{y,U} - \sigma}{\sigma_{y,U} - \sigma_{y,L}}$$
(5)

We note that the mean yield stress equals

$$E(\Sigma_{y}) = \frac{1}{2}(\sigma_{y,L} + \sigma_{y,U})$$
(6)

whereas the variance of the yield stress reads

$$Var(\Sigma_{y}) = \frac{1}{12} (\sigma_{y,U} - \sigma_{y,L})^{2}$$

$$\tag{7}$$

We express upper level of the yield stress $\sigma_{y,U}$ as follows, in terms of the mean yield stress $E(\Sigma_y)$ and variance of the yield stress $Var(\Sigma_y)$ via Eqs. (6) and (7):

$$\sigma_{y,U} = \frac{2E(\Sigma_y) + \sqrt{12Var(\Sigma_y)}}{2}$$

$$= E(\Sigma_y) + \sqrt{3Var(\Sigma_y)}$$
(8)

The denominator in Eq. (5) is directly expressible by the variance as $2\sqrt{3Var(\Sigma_y)}$ in Eq.

(7). Thus, the reliability in Eq. (5) can be rewritten as

$$R = \frac{E(\Sigma_y) + \sqrt{3Var(\Sigma_y)} - \sigma}{2\sqrt{3Var(\Sigma_y)}}$$
(9)

We divide both the numerator and denominator by σ and express the ration

$$\frac{\sqrt{3Var(\Sigma_y)}}{\sigma} = \frac{\sqrt{3Var(\Sigma_y)}}{E(\Sigma_y)} \frac{E(\Sigma_y)}{\sigma}$$

$$= \sqrt{3}v_{\Sigma_y}s_1$$
(10)

where

$$v_{\Sigma_y} = \sqrt{Var(\Sigma_y)} / E(\Sigma_y)$$
(11)

is the coefficient of variation of the yield stress,

$$s_1 = E(\Sigma_y) / \sigma \tag{12}$$

is the central safety factor:

$$R = \frac{s_1(1+\sqrt{3}v_{\Sigma_y})-1}{2\sqrt{3}v_{\Sigma_y}s_1}$$
(13)

Eq. (13) allows to express the central safety factor as a function of the reliability:

$$s_1 = \frac{1}{1 + \sqrt{3}\nu_{\Sigma_y}(1 - 2R)}$$
(14)

This equation is remarkable for the required reliability R is *directly* connected with the central safety factor s_1 . Thus, if the required reliability 0.9 is set, at the coefficient of

variation of the yield stress $v_{\Sigma_y} = 0.05$ we get the level of safety factor equal 1.07; for R = 0.99 we get $s_1 = 1.09$; reliability level 0.999 corresponds to $s_1 = 1.095$. At the greater coefficient of variation, namely, that comprising 10% we get

$$s_1 = 1.16, \text{ for } R = 0.9$$

 $s_1 = 1.20, \text{ for } R = 0.99$
 $s_1 = 1.21, \text{ for } R = 0.999$
(15)

When the variability constitutes 20%, we obtain

$$s_1 = 1.38, \text{ for } R = 0.9$$

 $s_1 = 1.51, \text{ for } R = 0.99$
 $s_1 = 1.53, \text{ for } R = 0.999$
(16)

etc. yielding greater needed safety factors with greater variability, if the demanded reliability level is fixed.

Case 2: Yield Stress Has an Exponential Probability Density, Actual Stress Is Deterministic

Consider now the case in which Σ_y is variable with exponential probability density but Σ is deterministic. Hence Σ takes only a single value σ with unity probability.

The probability density of Σ_y reads:

$$f_{\Sigma_{y}}(\sigma_{y}) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{for } \sigma_{y} < 0\\ a \exp(-a\sigma_{y}), & \text{for } \sigma_{y} > 0 \end{cases}$$
(17)

Here f_{Σ_y} is the probability density of the yield stress.

The probability distribution function of Σ_y is defined as (Fig. 1)

$$F_{\Sigma_{y}}(\sigma_{y}) = \operatorname{Prob}(\Sigma_{y} \le \sigma_{y})$$
(18)

i.e. as a probability that Σ_y will take values that are not in excess of any pre-selected value σ_y .

According to the definition of the probability distribution

$$F_{\Sigma_{y}}(\sigma_{y}) = \int_{-\infty}^{\sigma_{y}} f_{\Sigma_{y}}(t) dt$$
(19)

we get

$$F_{\Sigma_{y}}(\sigma_{y}) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{for } \sigma_{y} < 0 \\ 1 - \exp(-a\sigma_{y}), & \text{for } \sigma_{y} \ge 0 \end{cases}$$
(20)

The parameter a is the reciprocal of the mathematical expectation

$$E(\Sigma_{y}) = \frac{1}{a}$$
(21)

The reliability reads

$$R = \Pr ob(\Sigma \le \Sigma_{y}) = \Pr ob(\sigma \le \Sigma_{y})$$

=
$$\Pr ob(\Sigma_{y} \ge \sigma) = 1 - \Pr ob(\Sigma_{y} \le \sigma)$$
(22)

In the right side of the equation (20) we recognize that the quantity $\operatorname{Prob}(\Sigma_y \leq \sigma)$ coincides with Eq. (16) when instead of σ_y in Eq. (16) we substitute σ . In other words $\operatorname{Prob}(\Sigma_y \leq \sigma)$ equals the probability distribution function of the yield stress evaluated at the level of the actual stress (Fig. 2):

$$\operatorname{Prob}(\Sigma_{y} \leq \sigma) = F_{\Sigma_{y}}(\sigma) \tag{23}$$

Thus, bearing in mind Eq. (18) we get

$$\operatorname{Prob}(\Sigma_{y} \leq \sigma) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{for } \sigma \leq 0\\ 1 - \exp(-a\sigma), & \text{for } \sigma \geq 0 \end{cases}$$
(24)


Fig. 1 Probability distribution of the yield stress



Fig. 1 Reliability equals the function $1 - F_{\Sigma_y}(\sigma_y)$ evaluated at the actual stress

Hence, the reliability in Eq. (20) becomes

$$R = 1 - \Pr ob(\Sigma_{y} \le \sigma) = 1 - F_{\Sigma_{y}}(\sigma)$$

= 1 - [1 - exp(-a\sigma)]U(\sigma) (25)

where $U(\sigma)$ is the unit step function, *i.e.* $U(\sigma)$ equals unity for positive σ and vanishes otherwise. Taking into account the relationship (21) we can rewrite Eq. (20) in the following manner

$$R = \left\{ \exp\left[-\frac{\sigma}{E(\Sigma_{y})}\right] \right\} U(\sigma)$$
(26)

We recognize the argument in Eq. (26) to be reciprocal of the safety factor. Due to Eq. (5), of the report 1, three safety factors coincide in this case. Hence we denote them by a single notation s. Thus we get the following relationship:

$$R = \exp(-1/s)U(\sigma) \tag{27}$$

As we see, reliability is intimately connected with the safety factor in the case under consideration. In fact, the safety factor can be expressed directly from Eq. (22) for $\sigma \ge 0$.

$$s = -\frac{1}{\ln(R)} = \frac{1}{\ln(\frac{1}{R})}$$
 (28)

In this particular case if the required reliability equals 0.9 the safety factor 1/ln(0.9) is greater than 9!

The results in this case, although may seem to be very surprising, are quite understandable. The variance of the yield stress

$$Var(\Sigma_y) = \frac{1}{a^2}$$
(29)

The coefficient of variation in this case

$$c.o.v. = \frac{\sqrt{Var(\Sigma_y)}}{E(\Sigma_y)} = \frac{1/a}{1/a} = 1$$
(30)

equals unity; *i.e.* there is a large variation around the mean value of the yield stress; hence, large safety factors are needed to achieve the required reliability levels.

Case 3: Strength Has a Rayleigh Probability Density, Actual

Stress Is Deterministic

The probability density of the strength is given by

$$f_{\Sigma_{y}}(\sigma_{y}) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{for } \sigma_{y} < 0\\ \frac{\sigma_{y}}{b^{2}} \exp\left(-\frac{\sigma_{y}^{2}}{2b^{2}}\right), & \text{for } \sigma_{y} \ge 0 \end{cases}$$
(31)

with parameter b^2 . The distribution function is

$$F_{\Sigma_{y}}(\sigma_{y}) = \left[1 - \exp\left(-\frac{\sigma_{y}^{2}}{2b^{2}}\right)\right]U(\sigma_{y})$$
(32)

We also note that the mean strength is (Ref. 1, p75)

$$E(\Sigma_{y}) = \frac{b\sqrt{\pi}}{\sqrt{2}} \approx 1.25b$$
(33)

whereas the variance of the strength is (Ref. 1, p75)

$$Var(\Sigma_y) = \frac{(4-\pi)b^2}{2} \approx 0.43b^2$$
 (34)

Reliability is given by Eq. (3)

$$R = 1 - \Pr \operatorname{ob}(\Sigma_{y} \le \sigma) = 1 - F_{\Sigma_{y}}(\sigma)$$
(35)

Bearing in mind Eq. (27) we get:

$$R = \left[\exp\left(-\frac{\sigma^2}{2b^2}\right) \right] U(\sigma)$$
(36)

Now, taking into account Eq. (33) we can substitute instead of b,

$$b \approx \frac{E(\Sigma_y)}{1.25} = 0.8E(\Sigma_y)$$
(37)

to get

$$R = U(\sigma) \exp\left\{-\frac{\sigma^2}{2[0.8E(\Sigma_y)]^2}\right\}$$
(38)

or, in terms of the safety factor

$$s = \frac{E(\Sigma_{y})}{\sigma},$$
(39)

we obtain

$$R = U(\sigma) \exp\left\{-\frac{0.78125}{s^2}\right\}$$
(40)

Safety factor *s* can be expressed from the reliability

$$s = \sqrt{\frac{0.78125}{\ln(1/R)}} = \frac{0.8839}{\sqrt{\ln(1/R)}}$$
(41)

Let the reliability be set at R = 0.99. Eq. (40) yields safety factor 8.82. This result is again understandable since the coefficient of variation in this case too is quite large:

$$c.o.v. = \frac{\sqrt{Var(\Sigma_y)}}{E(\Sigma_y)} \approx \frac{\sqrt{0.43b^2}}{1.25b} = 0.52$$
(42)

Case 4: Various Factors of Safety in Buckling

It is best to start with an engineering example, first in the deterministic setting. Consider an element that is simply supported at its ends. It is subjected to the compressive load P at the ends, as well as the concentrate bending moment. M. The section modulus of the cross section is denoted by S. Material's proportionality limit σ_{pl} as well as the yield stress σ_y are given. We are interested in determining the safety factor in 3 different regimes.

(a) During Use of the Element Both M and P Increase Simultaneously In this case we have

$$\sigma_{\max} = \frac{M_{\max}}{S} + \frac{P}{A}$$
(43)

where M_{max} the maximum bending moment

$$M_{\rm max} = \frac{M}{\cos\frac{kL}{2}} \tag{44}$$

where

$$k = \sqrt{\frac{P}{EI}} \tag{45}$$

A = cross sectional area.

Since the relationship between the stresses and the load P is nonlinear, the safety factor n_{SF} is determined as follows. We multiply the load by n_{SF} so as to achieve a level of stress equal to the yield stress. Thus, the deterministic safety factor is derived from

$$\sigma_{y} = \frac{n_{SF}M}{S\cos\frac{k_{y}L}{2}} + \frac{n_{SF}P}{A}$$
(46)

where

$$k_{y} = \sqrt{\frac{n_{sF}P}{EI}}$$
(47)

Consider now the probabilistic setting of the problem. Let σ_y be a random variable Σ_y . Then the central safety factor s_1 is determined from the equation, in the manner, analogous to the deterministic setting, except that σ_y is replaced by $E(\Sigma_y)$, and n_{SF} is replaced by s_1 .

$$E(\Sigma_{y}) = \frac{s_{1}M}{S\cos\frac{k_{y}L}{2}} + \frac{s_{1}P}{A}$$
(48)

where

$$k_{y} = \sqrt{\frac{s_{i}P}{EI}}$$
(49)

(b) During Use of the Element the Axial Force Remains Constant, Concentrated Moment Increases

Deterministic safety factor n_{SF} is found from the equation:

$$\sigma_{y} = \frac{n_{SF}M}{S\cos\frac{kL}{2}} + \frac{P}{A}$$
(50)

whereas the appropriate probabilistic central safety factor is determined from the equation:

$$E(\Sigma_{y}) = \frac{s_{1}M}{S\cos\frac{kL}{2}} + \frac{P}{A}$$
(51)

where

$$k = \sqrt{\frac{P}{EI}}$$
(52)

(c) During Use of Element the Concentrated Moment Remains Constant, Axial Force Increases

The deterministic safety factor n_{SF} is determined from the equation

$$\sigma_{y} = \frac{M}{S\cos\frac{k_{y}L}{2}} + \frac{n_{SF}P}{A}$$
(53)

where

$$k_{y}^{(c)} = \sqrt{\frac{n_{SF}P}{EI}}$$
(54)

The probability analog of this equation reads:

$$E(\Sigma_{y}) = \frac{M}{S\cos\frac{k_{y}L}{2}} + \frac{s_{1}P}{A}$$
(55)

where

$$k_{y} = \sqrt{\frac{s_{1}P}{EI}}$$
(56)

For example, let M = 2 kN.m, P = 100 kN. The cross-sectional area is annular with mean diameter $D_m = 10$ cm; thickness = 0.5 cm, L = 3 m. Then the deterministic safety factors become, in three settings

Case (a):
$$n_{SF} = 1.85$$

Case (b): $n_{SF} = 3.37$

Case (c): $n_{SF} = 2.52$

In probabilistic setting, if $E(\Sigma_y) = 300$ MPa, the same "central" safety factor is obtained. Yet, straightforward application of the definition $E(\Sigma)/\sigma$ would be incorrect, since the load P and the stress σ are not interrelated linearly.

In some cases, a simplified analysis can be performed: Consider the column that is simultaneously subjected to the uniform distributed load q and axial compressive load P. Then the exact analysis of the differential equation

$$EIw''+Pw = M, (58)$$

where w = displacement, $M_t =$ bending moment due to the transverse load,

$$M_{t} = \frac{qL}{2}x - \frac{q}{2}x^{2}$$
(59)

leads to the maximum bending moment

$$M_{\rm max} = \frac{q}{k^2} \frac{1 - \cos\frac{kL}{2}}{\cos\frac{kL}{2}}$$
(60)

where $k = \sqrt{P/EI}$. The approximate relationship, as is well known from the applied theory of elasticity reads

$$M_{\rm max} \approx \frac{qL^2/8}{1 - \frac{P}{P_{\rm cr}}} \tag{61}$$

Thus the stresses would read

$$\sigma = \frac{qL^2/8}{S\left(1 - \frac{P}{P_{cr}}\right)} + \frac{P}{A}$$
(62)

If both q and P increase simultaneously, the safety factor is found from equation

$$\sigma_{y} = \frac{n_{SF}qL^{2}/8}{S\left(1 - \frac{n_{SF}P}{P_{cr}}\right)} + \frac{n_{SF}P}{A}$$
(63)

The probabilistic "central" safety factor is found from the equation

_

$$E(\Sigma_{y}) = \frac{s_{1}qL^{2}/8}{S\left(1 - \frac{s_{1}P}{P_{cr}}\right)} + \frac{s_{1}P}{A}$$
(64)

and not what would appear appropriate at the first glance:

$$s_{1} = \frac{E(\Sigma_{y})}{\frac{qL^{2}/8}{S\left(1 - \frac{P}{P_{cr}}\right)} + \frac{P}{A}}$$
(65)

The correct equation (64) leads to a quadratic equation for the central safety factor s_1 :

$$s_{1}^{2} \frac{SP^{2}}{AP_{cr}} - s_{1} \left(\frac{SPE(\Sigma_{y})}{P_{cr}} - \frac{SP}{A} \right) - \frac{qL^{2}}{8} + SE(\Sigma) = 0$$
(66)

Case 5: Yield Stress Has a Weibull Probability Density, Actual Stress Is Deterministic

Consider now the case when the probability distribution function of the yield stress reads

$$F_{\Sigma_{y}}(\sigma_{y}) = \exp\left[-\exp\left(\frac{a_{\Sigma_{y}} - \sigma_{y}}{b_{\Sigma_{y}}}\right)\right]$$
(67)

where a_{Σ_y} and b_{Σ_y} are positive parameters.

Reliability becomes

$$R = Prob(\sigma \le \Sigma_{y}) = Prob(\Sigma_{y} \ge \sigma) = 1 - Prob(\Sigma_{y} \le \sigma)$$

= 1 - F_{\subsetup w}(\sigma) (68)

thus yielding the reliability as follows:

$$R = \exp\left[-\exp\left(\frac{a_{\Sigma_{y}} - \sigma}{b_{\Sigma_{y}}}\right)\right]$$
(69)

According to Haldar and Mahadevan (2000) (who do not deal with safety factors in the present context, but discuss the Weibull distribution) the average and variance of Σ_y are directly expressible via a_{Σ_y} and b_{Σ_y} :

$$\frac{1}{b_{\Sigma_y}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{6}} \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{Var(\Sigma_y)}}$$
(70)

$$a_{\Sigma_{y}} = E(\Sigma_{y}) - 0.5772b_{\Sigma_{y}}$$
(71)

Therefore,

$$E(\Sigma_{y}) = a_{\Sigma_{y}} + 0.5772b_{\Sigma_{y}}$$
(72)

$$Var(\Sigma_{y}) = \frac{\pi^{2}}{6} b_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}$$
 (73)

Substitution into Eq. (69) yields

$$R = \exp\left[-\exp\left(\frac{E(\Sigma_{y}) - 0.5772\frac{\sqrt{6Var(\Sigma_{y})}}{\pi} - \sigma}{\sqrt{6Var(\Sigma_{y})/\pi}}\right)\right]$$
(74)

or

$$R = \exp\left[-\exp\left(\frac{E(\Sigma_{y}) - 0.45\sqrt{6Var(\Sigma_{y})} - \sigma}{0.78\sqrt{6Var(\Sigma_{y})}}\right)\right]$$
(75)

Dividing both the numerator and denominator in Eq. (75) by σ , and recalling the definition of central safety factor $s_1 = E(\Sigma_y)/\sigma$ and variability coefficient of the yield stress $v_{\Sigma_y} = \sqrt{Var(\Sigma_y)}/E(\Sigma_y)$ we get

$$R = \exp\left[-\exp\left(\frac{s_{1} - 0.45v_{\Sigma_{y}} - 1}{0.78v_{\Sigma_{y}}s_{1}}\right)\right]$$
(76)

If the reliability is fixed, one can find the appropriate safety factor:

$$s_{1} = \frac{1 + 0.45v_{\Sigma_{y}}}{1 - 0.78v_{\Sigma_{y}} \ln(\ln \frac{1}{R})}$$
(77)

Since this formula yields safety factors that are less than unity, the use of the Weibull distribution appears to be questionable in the case in question. This leads to an all-important lesson: Direct randomization of the deterministic problem not always may be advisible.

Conclusion

In this report we dealt with the case that is reverse to that discussed in report #1.

As Mischke (1970) notes, "there is disenchantment with the term factor of safety." Shigley (1970) writes: "One of the unfortunate facts of life is that there are almost no publications of data on the distribution of stress and strength."

We fell that the expert opinions on one hand, and the expert systems on the other, along with the use of accumulated data available in engineering firms, will close the gap between the present safety factor design and the probabilistic approach to its both justification and the rational allocation.

44

References (see also extensive list of references in report #1)

Ang A. H-S. and Amin M., Safety Factors and Probability in Structural Design, Journal of Structural Division, Vol. 95, 1969, pp. 1389-1404.

Birger I. A., Probability of Failure, Safety Factors and Diagnostics, Problems of Mechanics of Solid Bodies, "Sudostroenve" Publishers, Leningrad, 1970, pp. 71-82 (in Russian).

Elishakoff I., Probabilistic Theory of Structures, Dover, New York, 1999.

Faulkner D., Safety Factors?, *Steel Plated Structures*, An International Symposium (P. J. Dow;ing, J. Z. Harding and P. A. Fieze, eds.), Crosby Lockwood Staples, London.

Freudenthal A. M., The Safety Factor, *The Inelastic Behavior of Engineering Materials and Structures*, Wiley, New York, pp. 477-480, 1950.

Kokhanenko I. K., Statistical Method of Determining the Safety Factor, Izvestiya Vuzov, Mashinostroenie, No. 12, 1983, pp. 9-12 (in Russian).

Melchers, R. E.: Structural Reliability Analysis and Predictions, Wiley, Chichester, p. 23, 1999.

Mischke C., A Method of Relating Factor of Safety and Reliability, Journal of Engineering for Industry, Aug. 1970, pp. 539-541.

Millers I. and Freund J. E., Tolerance Limits, *Probability and Statistics for Engineers*, Prentice hall, Englewood Cliffs, pp. 514-517, 1977.

My D. T. and Massoud M., On the Relation between the Factor of Safety and Reliability, *Journal of Engineering for Industry*, Vol. 96, 1974, pp. 853-857.

My D. T. and Massoud M., On the Probabilistic Distributions of Stress and Strength in Design Problems, *Journal of Engineering for Industry*, Vol. 97 (3), pp. 986-993, 1975.

Randall F. A. Jr., The Safety Factor of Structures in History, *Professional Safety*, Jan. 1976, pp. 12-18.

Neal D. M., Mattew W. T. and Vangel M. G., Model Sensitivities in Stress-Strength Reliability Computations, Materials Technology Laboratory, TR 91-3, Watertown, MA, Jan. 1991.

Rao S. S., *Reliability – Based Design*, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1992.

NASA/CR-2001-211309

Schigley J. E., Discussion on the Paper by C. Mischke, Journal of Engineering for Industry, Aug. 1970, pp. 541-542.

Verderaine V., Aerostructural Safety Factor Criteria using Deterministic Reliability, Journal of Spacecraft and Rockets, 1993, Vol. 30 (2), 244-247.

Interrelation Between Safety Factor and Reliability: Part 3

Both Actual Stress and Yield Stress Are Random

by Isaac Elishakoff Department of Mechanical Engineering Florida Atlantic University Boca Raton, FL 33432

In this part we consider most realistic case when both the yield stress Σ_y and the

actual stress Σ are represented as random variables. The reliability reads:

$$R = \Pr \operatorname{ob}(\Sigma \le \Sigma_{v}) \tag{1}$$

We denote by $f_{\Sigma\Sigma_y}(\sigma, \sigma_y)$ a joint probability density function of Σ and Σ_y . Then Eq. (1)

becomes

$$R = \iint_{\Sigma \leq \Sigma_{y}} f_{\Sigma \Sigma_{y}}(\sigma, \sigma_{y}) d\sigma d\sigma_{y} = \iint_{0}^{\infty} \left[\int_{\sigma}^{\infty} f_{\Sigma \Sigma_{y}}(\sigma, \sigma_{y}) d\sigma_{y} \right] d\sigma$$
(2)

or, alternatively,

$$R = \iint_{\Sigma \leq \Sigma_{y}} f_{\Sigma \Sigma_{y}}(\sigma, \sigma_{y}) d\sigma d\sigma_{y} = \iint_{0}^{\infty} \left[\int_{0}^{\sigma_{y}} f_{\Sigma \Sigma_{y}}(\sigma, \sigma_{y}) d\sigma \right] d\sigma_{y}$$
(3)

where the integration domain extends over the region in which Σ and Σ_y to be independent random variables. We find two formulas, stemming from Eqs (2) and (3), respectively:

$$R = \int_{0}^{\infty} [1 - F_{\Sigma_{y}}(\sigma)] f_{\Sigma}(\sigma) d\sigma$$
(4)

$$R = \int_{0}^{\infty} F_{\Sigma}(\sigma_{y}) f_{\Sigma_{y}}(\sigma_{y}) d\sigma_{y}$$
(5)

We will use either of Eqs. (4) or (5) based on convenience of computation.

Case 1: Both Actual Stress and Yield Stress Have Normal Probability Density

Let

$$f_{\Sigma}(\sigma) = \frac{1}{b_{\Sigma}\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\sigma - E(\Sigma)}{b_{\Sigma}}\right)^{2}\right]$$
(6)

$$f_{\Sigma_{y}}(\sigma_{y}) = \frac{1}{b_{\Sigma_{y}}\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\sigma_{y} - E(\Sigma_{y})}{b_{\Sigma_{y}}}\right)^{2}\right]$$
(7)

where

 $E(\Sigma)$ = mean value of the actual stress $b_{\Sigma} = \sqrt{Var(\Sigma)}$ = standard deviation of the actual stress $E(\Sigma_y)$ = mean value of the yield stress $b_{\Sigma_y} = \sqrt{Var(\Sigma_y)}$ = standard deviation of the yield stress

We introduce a new random variable

$$M = \sum_{v} - \Sigma \tag{8}$$

which is called the safety margin. Since Eq. (8) expresses linearly Σ and Σ_y , the safety margin, as a linear function of the normal variables, is also a normal variable with the mean value

$$E(M) = E(\Sigma_{v}) - E(\Sigma)$$
⁽⁹⁾

and standard deviation b_M found as follows

$$b_{M} = \sqrt{b_{\Sigma}^{2} + b_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}}$$
(10)

The reliability is then

$$R = \Pr \operatorname{ob}(\Sigma \leq \Sigma_{y}) = \Pr \operatorname{ob}(M \geq 0)$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{b_{M} \sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left[-\left(\frac{t - E(M)}{b_{M}}\right)^{2}\right] dt \qquad (11)$$

To perform an integration in Eq. (11), we introduce new variable

$$z = \frac{t - E(M)}{b_M} \tag{12}$$

Hence

$$dt = b_M dz \tag{13}$$

Also, when t = 0, the lower limit of z equals

$$z = \frac{0 - E(M)}{b_M} = -\frac{E(\Sigma_y) - E(\Sigma)}{\sqrt{b_{\Sigma}^2 + b_{\Sigma_y}^2}}$$
(14)

Hence,

$$R = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{-\frac{E(\Sigma_y) - E(\Sigma)}{\sqrt{b_x^2 + b_{x_y}^2}}}^{\infty} \exp(-z^2/2) dz$$
(15)

Thus, reliability in Eq. (11) becomes

$$R = 1 - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{-\infty}^{-\frac{E(\Sigma_{y}) - E(\Sigma)}{\sqrt{b_{\Sigma}^{2} + b_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}}}} \exp(-z^{2}/2) dz$$

$$= 1 - \Phi\left(-\frac{E(\Sigma_{y}) - E(\Sigma)}{\sqrt{b_{\Sigma}^{2} + b_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}}}\right)$$
(16)

This formula can be rewritten in several alternative ways. First of all we note that

$$\frac{E(\Sigma_{y}) - E(\Sigma)}{\sqrt{b_{\Sigma}^{2} + b_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}}} = \frac{1}{v_{M}}$$
(17)

where v_M is the coefficient of variation of the safety margin. Thus

$$R = 1 - \Phi\left(-\frac{1}{\nu_M}\right) \tag{18}$$

We also introduce coefficients of variation of the actual stress and the yield stress, respectively,

$$v_{\Sigma} = \frac{b_{\Sigma}}{E(\Sigma)}$$
(19)

$$v_{\Sigma_y} = \frac{b_{\Sigma_y}}{E(\Sigma_y)}$$
(20)

Then,

$$\sqrt{b_{\Sigma}^{2} + b_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}} = E(\Sigma)\sqrt{\frac{b_{\Sigma}^{2}}{E^{2}(\Sigma)} + \frac{b_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}}{E^{2}(\Sigma)}} = E(\Sigma)\sqrt{v_{\Sigma}^{2} + \frac{b_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}}{E^{2}(\Sigma_{y})}} \frac{E^{2}(\Sigma_{y})}{E^{2}(\Sigma)}$$

$$= E(\Sigma)\sqrt{v_{\Sigma}^{2} + v_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}s_{1}^{2}}$$
(21)

Hence, the reliability in Eq. (16) becomes

$$R = 1 - \Phi\left(-\frac{s_1 - 1}{\sqrt{v_{\Sigma}^2 + v_{\Sigma_y}^2 s_1}}\right)$$
(22)

.

As is seen the reliability R, the central safety factor s_1 and the variabilities v_{Σ} and $v_{\Sigma_y}^2$ are directly interrelated.

Case 2: Actual Stress Has an Exponential Density, Yield Stress Has a Normal Probability Density

For the titled case the probability densities of Σ and Σ_y read, respectively,

$$f_{\Sigma}(\sigma) = a \exp(-a\sigma), \quad for \quad \sigma \ge 0$$

$$f_{\Sigma_{y}}(\sigma_{y}) = \frac{1}{b_{\Sigma_{y}}\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\sigma_{y} - E(\sigma_{y})}{b_{\Sigma_{y}}}\right)^{2}\right], \quad for \quad -\infty \le \sigma_{y} \le \infty$$
(23)

We note that

$$E(\Sigma) = \frac{1}{a}, \quad Var(\Sigma) = \frac{1}{a^2}$$
(24)

$$E(\Sigma_{y}) = b_{\Sigma_{y}}, \quad Var(\Sigma_{y}) = b_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}$$
(25)

We evaluate reliability function as follows

$$R = \int_{0}^{\infty} f_{\Sigma_{y}}(\sigma_{y}) \left[\int_{0}^{\sigma_{y}} f_{\Sigma}(\sigma) d\sigma \right] d\sigma_{y}$$
(26)

Now, the inner integral equals:

$$\int_{0}^{\sigma_{y}} f_{\Sigma}(\sigma) d\sigma = \int_{0}^{\sigma_{y}} a \exp(-a\sigma) d\sigma$$
$$= 1 - \exp(-a\sigma_{y})$$

This results in the following evaluation:

$$R = \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{b_{\Sigma_{y}} \sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\sigma_{y} - E(\Sigma_{y})}{b_{\Sigma_{y}}}\right)^{2}\right] (1 - e^{-a\sigma_{y}}) d\sigma_{y}$$

$$= \frac{1}{b_{\Sigma_{y}} \sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\sigma_{y} - E(\Sigma_{y})}{b_{\Sigma_{y}}}\right)^{2}\right] d\sigma_{y}$$

$$-\frac{1}{b_{\Sigma_{y}} \sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\sigma_{y} - E(\Sigma_{y})}{b_{\Sigma_{y}}}\right)^{2}\right] e^{-a\sigma_{y}} d\sigma_{y}$$

$$= 1 - \Phi\left(-\frac{E(\Sigma_{y})}{b_{\Sigma_{y}}}\right) - \frac{1}{b_{\Sigma_{y}} \sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2b_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}} \left[\sigma_{y} - E(\Sigma_{y}) + ab_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2} + 2E(\Sigma_{y})b_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2} - a^{2}b\right]\right\}$$

We introduce the following variables

$$t = \frac{\sigma_y - E(\Sigma_y) + ab_{\Sigma_y}^{2}}{b_{\Sigma_y}}$$
(28)

Hence

$$b_{\Sigma_y} dt = d\sigma_y \tag{29}$$

The expression for the reliability reads

$$R = 1 - \Phi\left[-\frac{E(\Sigma_{y})}{b_{\Sigma_{y}}}\right] - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{-\frac{E(\Sigma_{y}) - ab_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}}{b_{\Sigma_{y}}}}^{\infty} I(t)dt$$
(30)

where

$$I(t) = \exp\left(-\frac{t^2}{2}\right) \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\left(2E(\Sigma_y)a - a^2b_{\Sigma_y}^2\right)\right]$$
(31)

leading to the final expression

$$R = 1 - \Phi\left[-\frac{E(\Sigma_{y})}{b_{\Sigma_{y}}}\right] - \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}(2E(\Sigma_{y})a - a^{2}b_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2})\right]\left[1 - \Phi\left(-\frac{E(\Sigma_{y}) - ab_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}}{b_{\Sigma_{y}}}\right)\right]$$
(32)

This expression is rewritten as follows with notation:

$$v_{\Sigma_y} = \frac{b_{\Sigma_y}}{E(\Sigma_y)}$$
(33)

we get

$$\exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\left(2E(\Sigma_{y})a-a^{2}b_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}\right)\right] = \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{E(\Sigma_{y})}{E(\Sigma)}-\frac{Var(\Sigma_{y})}{E^{2}(\Sigma)}\right)\right]$$
$$= \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\left(s_{1}-\frac{Var(\Sigma_{y})}{E^{2}(\Sigma_{y})}\frac{E^{2}(\Sigma_{y})}{E^{2}(\Sigma)}\right)\right]$$
$$= \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\left(s_{1}-v_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}s_{1}^{2}\right)\right]$$
(34)

Also, the expression in Eq. (32) becomes

$$1 - \Phi \left[-\frac{E(\Sigma_{y}) - ab_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}}{b_{\Sigma_{y}}} \right] = 1 - \Phi \left[-\frac{E(\Sigma_{y})}{\sqrt{Var(\Sigma_{y})}} - \frac{\sqrt{Var(\Sigma_{y})}}{E(\Sigma)} \right]$$
$$= 1 - \Phi \left(-\frac{1}{v_{\Sigma_{y}}} - \frac{\sqrt{Var(\Sigma_{y})}}{E(\Sigma_{y})} \frac{E(\Sigma_{y})}{E(\Sigma)} \right)$$
$$= 1 - \Phi \left(-\frac{1}{v_{\Sigma_{y}}} - v_{\Sigma_{y}} s_{1} \right)$$
(35)

Thus, all parameters in Eq. (32) are expressed in terms of the coefficients of variation and the central safety factor s_1

$$R = 1 - \Phi\left(\frac{1}{v_{\Sigma_{y}}}\right) - \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}(s_{1} - v_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}s_{1}^{2})\right]\left[1 - \Phi\left(-\frac{1}{v_{\Sigma_{y}}} - v_{\Sigma_{y}}s_{1}\right)\right]$$
(36)

Consider an example. Let the yield stress has a normal probability density with mean yield stress equal $E(\Sigma_y) = 100$ MPa. The variance equals $Var(\Sigma_y) = 100(\text{MPa})^2$, or standard deviation equals $b_{\Sigma_y} = 10$ MPa, leading to the coefficient of variation to be

$$v_{\Sigma_{y}} = \frac{b_{\Sigma_{y}}}{E(\Sigma_{y})} = \frac{10}{100} = 0.1$$
(37)

The central safety factor is set at 2, *i.e.*

$$s_1 = \frac{E(\Sigma_y)}{E(\Sigma)} = 2$$
(38)

leading to the value of the mean stress to be equal

$$E(\Sigma) = \frac{1}{2}E(\Sigma_y) = \frac{1}{2} \times 100 = 50$$
 MPa (39)

i.e.

$$a = 1/E(\Sigma) = 1/50 \text{ (MPa)}^{-1}$$
 (40)

Calculations in accordance to the formula (36) yield the reliability R = 0.86194.

Case 3: Actual Stress Has a Normal Probability Density, Strength Has an Exponential Probability Density

In this case we get

$$R = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f_{\Sigma}(\sigma) \left[\int_{\sigma}^{\infty} f_{\Sigma_{y}}(\sigma_{y}) d\sigma_{y} \right] d\sigma$$
(41)

In new circumstances the probability densities read:

$$f_{\Sigma}(\sigma) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi Var(\Sigma)}} \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\sigma - E(\Sigma)}{\sqrt{Var(\Sigma)}}\right)^{2}\right]$$
$$f_{\Sigma_{y}}(\sigma_{y}) = \frac{1}{E(\Sigma_{y})} \exp\left[-\frac{\sigma_{y}}{E(\Sigma_{y})}\right], \quad \sigma_{y} > 0$$
(42)

The reliability becomes:

$$R = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi Var(\Sigma)}} \exp\left[-\left(\frac{\sigma - E(\Sigma)}{2Var(\Sigma)}\right)^2\right] \exp\left(-\frac{\sigma}{E(\Sigma_y)}\right) d\sigma$$
(43)

The find expression is as follows:

$$R = \Phi\left(-\frac{E(\Sigma)}{\sqrt{Var(\Sigma)}}\right) + \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{2E(\Sigma)}{E(\Sigma_{y})} - \frac{Var(\Sigma)}{E^{2}(\Sigma_{y})}\right)\right]\left[1 - \Phi\left(-\frac{E(\Sigma) - Var(\Sigma) / E^{2}(\Sigma_{y})}{\sqrt{Var(\Sigma)}}\right)\right]$$
(44)

In terms of coefficients of variation and the central safety factor this expression becomes:

$$R = \Phi\left(-\frac{1}{v_{\Sigma}}\right) + \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{2}{s_{1}} - \frac{v_{\Sigma}^{2}}{s_{1}^{2}}\right)\right]\left[1 - \Phi\left(-\frac{1}{v_{\Sigma}} - \frac{v_{\Sigma}}{s_{1}^{2}}\right)\right]$$
(44)

Case 4: Both Actual Stress and Yield Stress Have Log-Normal Probability Densities

Let the actual stress have the following density

$$f_{\Sigma}(\sigma) = \frac{1}{\sigma b_{\Sigma} \sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left[-\frac{(\ln \sigma - a_{\Sigma})^2}{2b_{\Sigma}^2}\right], \quad \sigma > 0$$
(45)

where parameters a_{Σ} and b_{Σ} are related to the mean value $E(\Sigma)$ as follows:

$$E(\Sigma) = \exp(a_{\Sigma} + \frac{1}{2}b_{\Sigma}^{2})$$
(46)

The variance of the stress equals

$$Var(\Sigma) = \exp(2a_{\Sigma} + b_{\Sigma}^{2})[\exp(b_{\Sigma}^{2}) - 1]$$
(47)

The probability density of the yield stress reads:

$$f_{\Sigma_y}(\sigma_y) = \frac{1}{\sigma_y b_{\Sigma_y} \sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left[-\frac{(\ln \sigma_y - a_{\Sigma_y})^2}{2b_{\Sigma_y}^2}\right], \quad \sigma_y > 0$$
(48)

The parameters a_{Σ_y} and b_{Σ_y} are related in the following way with the mean yield stress:

$$E(\Sigma_{y}) = \exp(a_{\Sigma_{y}} + \frac{1}{2}b_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2})$$
(49)

Variance $Var(\Sigma_y)$ is expressed as

$$Var(\Sigma_{y}) = \exp(2a_{\Sigma_{y}} + b_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2})[\exp(b_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}) - 1]$$
(50)

The reliability reads

$$R = \Pr \operatorname{ob}(\Sigma \le \Sigma_{v}) \tag{51}$$

Yet, it is easier to express reliability as follows:

$$R = \Pr \operatorname{ob}\left(\frac{\Sigma}{\Sigma_{y}} \le 1\right)$$
(52)

Introducing a new variable Z,

$$Z = \frac{\Sigma}{\Sigma_{\rm v}} \tag{53}$$

we get

$$R = \Pr \operatorname{ob}(Z \le 1) \tag{54}$$

which can be rewritten as follows:

$$R = \Pr \operatorname{ob}(\ln Z \le 0) \tag{55}$$

We note that

$$\ln Z = \ln \Sigma - \ln \Sigma_{v} \tag{56}$$

But $\ln \Sigma$ has a normal probability density with

$$E(\ln \Sigma) = a_{\Sigma} \tag{57}$$

$$Var(\ln \Sigma) = b_{\Sigma}^{2}$$
(58)

Likewise $\ln \Sigma_y$ has a normal probability density with

$$E(\ln \Sigma_{y}) = a_{\Sigma_{y}}$$

$$Var(\ln \Sigma_{y}) = b_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}$$
(59)

Hence, the difference $\ln Z = \ln \Sigma - \ln \Sigma_y$ has a normal probability density with

$$E(\ln Z) = a_{\Sigma} - a_{\Sigma_{y}}$$

$$Var(\ln Z) = b_{\Sigma}^{2} + b_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}$$
(60)

We also conclude that Z is log-normal random variable with

$$E(Z) = \exp[a_{\Sigma} - a_{\Sigma_{y}} + \frac{1}{2}(b_{\Sigma}^{2} + b_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2})]$$
(61)

$$Var(Z) = \exp[2(a_{\Sigma} - a_{\Sigma_{y}}) + b_{\Sigma}^{2} + b_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}][\exp(b_{\Sigma}^{2} + b_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}) - 1]$$
(62)

The reliability reads

$$R = \Phi \left[-\frac{a_{\Sigma} - a_{\Sigma_{y}}}{\sqrt{b_{\Sigma}^{2} + b_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}}} \right]$$
(63)

The central safety factor reads

$$s_{1} = \frac{E(\Sigma_{y})}{E(\Sigma)} = \frac{\exp(a_{\Sigma} + b_{\Sigma}^{2}/2)}{\exp(a_{\Sigma_{y}} + b_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}/2)}$$
(64)

Consider an example. Let

$$E(\Sigma) = 60,000 \ kPa$$

$$\sqrt{Var(\Sigma)} = 20,000 \ kPa$$

$$E(\Sigma_{y}) = 100,000 \ kPa$$

$$\sqrt{Var(\Sigma_{y})} = 10,000 \ kPa$$
(65)

We know that the central safety factor equals

$$s_1 = \frac{E(\Sigma_y)}{E(\Sigma)} = \frac{100,000}{60,000} = 1.67$$
(66)

.

The reliability in this case turns out to be equal R = 0.9495.

Case 5: The Characteristic Safety Factor And the Design Safety Factor

The characteristic safety factor reads

$$\gamma = \frac{\Sigma_{y,0.05}}{\Sigma_{0.95}}$$
(67)

where $\Sigma_{y,0.05}$ is 0.05 fractile of the probability distribution of yield stress, $\Sigma_{0.95}$ is 0.95 fractile of the probability distribution of stress.

When both random variables Σ and Σ_y are normal, then, according to Leporati [2]

$$\gamma = \frac{E(\Sigma_{y})(1 - 1.645v_{\Sigma_{y}})}{E(\Sigma)(1 + 1.645v_{\Sigma})} = s_{1} \frac{1 - 1.645v_{\Sigma_{y}}}{1 + 1.645v_{\Sigma}}$$
(68)

If, for example, both coefficients of variation are set at 0.05 then characteristic safety factor equals

$$\gamma = \frac{0.91775}{1.08225} s_1 = 0.848 s_1 \tag{69}$$

For the coefficients of variation set at 0.1 we get

$$\gamma = 0.316s_1 \tag{70}$$

The design safety factor, according to Leporati [2] equals

$$\gamma^* = \frac{\Sigma_{y,0.005}}{\Sigma_{0.95}} \tag{71}$$

where $\Sigma_{\nu,0.005}$ is the 0.005 fractile of the yield stress. It equals

$$\gamma^* = s_1 \frac{1 - 2.576 v_{\Sigma_y}}{1 + 1.645 v_{\Sigma}} \tag{72}$$

Case 6: Asymptotic Analysis

Eq. (16) can be put in the following form:

$$p_f = \Phi(\beta) \tag{73}$$

where β is referred to as a reliability index.

For $\beta > 5$, the probability of failure can be written via an asymptotic formula:

$$p_f \approx \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \frac{\beta^2 - 1}{\beta^2} \exp\left(-\frac{\beta^2}{2}\right)$$
(74)

The reliability index itself is represented as follows, via Eq. (16)

$$\beta = \frac{E(\Sigma_y) - E(\Sigma)}{\sqrt{Var(\Sigma_y) + Var(\Sigma)}}$$
(75)

Dividing both numerator and denominator by $E(\Sigma)$ we get

$$\beta = \frac{s_1 - 1}{\sqrt{v_{\Sigma}^2 + s_1^2 v_{\Sigma_y}^2}}$$
(76)

From Eq. (76) we can find s_1 by solving the quadratic

$$\beta^{2} v_{\Sigma}^{2} + \beta^{2} s_{1}^{2} v_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2} = (s_{1} - 1)^{2}$$
(77)

$$s_1^{2}(\beta^2 v_{\Sigma_y}^{2} - 1) + 2s_1 + \beta^2 v_{\Sigma}^{2} - 1 = 0$$
(78)

We get

$$s_{1} = \frac{1 + \sqrt{1 - (\beta^{2} v_{\Sigma}^{2} - 1)(\beta^{2} v_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2} - 1)}}{1 - \beta^{2} v_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}}$$

$$= \frac{1 + \sqrt{\beta^{2} v_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2} + \beta^{2} v_{\Sigma}^{2} - \beta^{4} v_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2} v_{\Sigma}^{2}}}{1 - \beta^{2} v_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}}$$
(79)

NASA/CR-2001-211309

As is easily seen, not for all coefficients of variability v_{Σ} and v_{Σ_y} one can find the central factor of safety such that the demanded reliability index would be achieved. For example for

$$(\beta^2 v_{\Sigma^2}^2 - 1)(\beta^2 v_{\Sigma_{\chi^2}}^2 - 1) > 1$$
(80)

 s_1 gets complex values.

Solving the inequality (80) we get

$$\beta^{2}(\beta^{2}v_{\Sigma}^{2}v_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}-v_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}-v_{\Sigma_{z}}^{2})>0$$
(81)

This implies, that the following inequality must be met

$$\beta < \sqrt{\frac{1}{v_{\Sigma}^{2}} + \frac{1}{v_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}}}$$
(82)

If the inequality (82) is violated, then the required reliability cannot be achieved by any factor of safety.

From Eq. (76) we observe that when s_1 tends to infinity, the reliability index tends to

$$\beta \to \frac{1}{\nu_{\Sigma}}$$
(83)

We can differentiate Eq (76) with respect to s_1 :

$$\frac{\partial \beta}{\partial s_1} = \frac{v_{\Sigma}^2 + v_{\Sigma_y}^2}{(v_{\Sigma}^2 + s_1^2 v_{\Sigma_y}^2)^{3/2}} > 0$$
(84)

This implies that when increasing s_1 from unity (when $\beta = 0$) to infinity, β varies from zero to the value $1/v_{\Sigma_0}$.

If the variation of the stress is zero $v_{\Sigma} = 0$ Eq. (79) yields

$$s_1 = \frac{1}{1 - \beta v_{\Sigma_y}} \tag{85}$$

When we have a zero variability of the yield stress $v_{\Sigma_y} = 0$, we get

$$s_1 = 1 + \beta v_{\Sigma} \tag{86}$$

Case 7: Actual Stress and Yield Stress Are Correlated

"In most cases the correlation between the actual stress and the yield stresses is absent. Yet, when such a correlation exists, its expressing is ambiguous, and it is difficult to express it numerically, "as Rzhanitzin (1981) notes.

Positive correlation between Σ and Σ_y take place when the stronger elements take more load. Partially this takes place for statically indeterminate systems, in which greater strength is associated with greater stiffness, and hence with more loads. Safety margin

$$M = \Sigma_v - \Sigma \tag{87}$$

has a variance

$$Var(M) = Var(\Sigma_{v}) - 2Cov(\Sigma_{v}, \Sigma) + Var(\Sigma)$$
(88)

where $Cor(\Sigma_{v}, \Sigma)$ is the covariance between the actual stress and yield stress.

Then instead of Eq. (75) we get

$$\beta = \frac{E(\Sigma_y) - E(\Sigma)}{\sqrt{Var(\Sigma_y) - 2Cov(\Sigma_y, \Sigma) + Var(\Sigma)}}$$
(89)

Hence, in terms of central safety factor, we have

$$\beta = \frac{s_1 - 1}{\sqrt{v_{\Sigma_y}^2 - 2s_1 v_{\Sigma\Sigma_y}^2 + s_1^2 v_{\Sigma}^2}}$$
(90)

NASA/CR-2001-211309

where $v_{\Sigma\Sigma_y}$ is the correlation coefficient

$$v_{\Sigma\Sigma_{y}} = \sqrt{\frac{Cov(\Sigma_{y}, \Sigma)}{E(\Sigma_{y})E(\Sigma)}}$$
(91)

One can express s_1 via β Eq. (90) becomes

$$(1 - v_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2} \beta^{2}) s_{1}^{2} - 2(1 - \beta^{2} v_{\Sigma\Sigma_{y}}^{2}) s_{1} + (1 - \beta^{2} v_{\Sigma}^{2}) = 0$$
(92)

yielding

$$s_{1} = \frac{1 - \beta^{2} v_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2} + \sqrt{\beta^{2} (v_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2} - 2v_{\Sigma\Sigma_{y}}^{2} + v_{\Sigma}^{2}) - \beta^{4} (v_{\Sigma}^{2} v_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2} - v_{\Sigma\Sigma_{y}}^{4})}}{1 - \beta^{2} v_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}}$$
(93)

When $v_{\Sigma\Sigma_{y}}$ vanishes Eq. (93) reduces to the case of uncorrelated actual stress and yield stress.

Case 8: Both Actual Stress and Yield Stress Follow the Pearson Probability Densities

The random variable is said to have a Pearson probability density, if it has a form

$$f_X(\mathbf{x}) = A\mathbf{x}^a e^{-b\mathbf{x}} \quad \text{for} \quad \mathbf{x} > 0 \tag{94}$$

where

$$A = \frac{b^{a+1}}{\Gamma(a+1)} \tag{95}$$

The mean value E(X) reads

$$E(X) = \frac{a+1}{b} \tag{96}$$

whereas the variance equals

$$Var(X) = \frac{a+1}{b^2}$$
(97)

The coefficient of variation equals

$$v_X = \frac{1}{\sqrt{a+1}} \tag{98}$$

It is interesting that the coefficient of variation does not depend upon b. It is seen that for small values of a we get very high variability, whereas for small variability, of the order of 0.1, greater values of a are needed ($a \approx 100$).

Let the actual stress have the Pearson density

$$f_{\Sigma}(\sigma) = A_1 \sigma^{\alpha - 1} \exp\left(-\frac{\alpha \sigma}{E(\Sigma)}\right)$$
(99)

The yield stress also has the Pearson density

$$f_{\Sigma_{y}}(\sigma_{y}) = A_{2}\sigma_{y}^{\beta-1} \exp\left(-\frac{\beta\sigma_{y}}{E(\Sigma_{y})}\right)$$
(100)

where

$$A_{1} = \frac{\alpha^{\alpha}}{\Gamma(\alpha)E^{\alpha}(\Sigma)}, \quad A_{2} = \frac{\beta^{\beta}}{\Gamma(\beta)E^{\beta}(\Sigma)}$$
(101)

where

$$\alpha = \frac{1}{v_{\Sigma}^{2}}, \quad \beta = \frac{1}{v_{\Sigma_{y}}^{2}}$$
(102)

The probability of failure becomes

$$P_{f} = \frac{B_{\delta}(\beta, \alpha)}{B(\beta, \alpha)} = J_{\delta}(\alpha, \beta)$$
(103)

where

$$B(\beta, \alpha) = \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\beta)}{\Gamma(\alpha + \beta)}$$
(104)

is the Euler function of the first kind, or beta-function, whereas

$$B_{\delta}(\beta,\alpha) = \int_{0}^{\delta} t^{\beta-1} (1-t)^{\alpha-1} dt$$
 (105)

is the Euler function of the second kind, or incomplete beta-function. The quantity δ in Eq. (105) is defined as follows:

$$\delta = \frac{\beta E(\Sigma)}{\beta E(\Sigma) + \alpha E(\Sigma_y)} = \left(1 + \frac{v_{\Sigma_y}}{{\Sigma_y}^2} s_1\right)^{-1}$$
(106)

The evaluation for the function $J_{\delta}(\alpha,\beta)$ can be done by the numerical evaluation of integrals in Eqs. (105) and (106).

Conclusion: Reliability & Safety Factor Can Peacefully Coexist

At this junction we ask the most important question: Are the safety factor and the reliability concepts contradictory or they can coexist peacefully? The Fig. 1-12 depict the dependence of the reliability in Eq. (22) vs the central safety factor s_1 . As is seen, for various variabilities of the stress and the yield stress one can assign both reliability and the central safety factor. Indeed, Fig. 1 shows that of the coefficient of variability of the stress γ_{Σ} =0.04 and the designer wants the safety factor to be set, say at 1.3, the demand that the reliability is above 0.92 results in the choice of materials with $\gamma_{\Sigma y} \leq 0.15$. We immediately observe that both the central safety factor and the reliability requirements can be combined. Likewise, for γ_{Σ} =0.05 (Fig. 2), the central safety factor s=1.2 is associated with reliabilities grater than or equal to 0.93. Thus, one can also impose the

reliability constraint. Analogous features are characteristic to figures 3-12. This leads to the conclusion that these 2 concepts can coexist peacefully.

But this coexistence cannot be done without some adjustments. Reliability concept provides the rigorous values of the factors, for otherwise, *i.e.* without the general context of reliability, the safety factor will remain as the factor of experience but still the factor of theoretical ignorance. Adopting reliability as the main concept, the allocated values of safety factor will naturally follow. In a sense probabilistic methods do not constitute a "revolution" but rather a natural "evolution".



Fig 1: Reliability, R, versus central safety Factor, s



Fig 2: Reliability, R, versus Central Safety Factor, s



Fig 3: Reliability, R, versus Central Safety Factor, s



Fig 4: Reliability, R, versus Central Safety Factor, s



Fig 5: Reliability, R, versus Central Safety Factor, s



Fig 6: Reliability, R, versus Central Safety Factor, s



Fig 7: Reliability, R, versus Central Safety Factor, s



Fig 8: Reliability, R, versus Central Safety Factor, s


Fig 9: Reliability, R, versus Central Safety Factor, s



Fig 10: Reliability, R, versus Central Safety Factor, s

.



Fig 11: Reliability, R, versus Central Safety Factor, s



Fig 12: Reliability, R, versus Central Safety Factor, s

References

- Dao-Thien M. and Mossoud M., On the Relation between the Factor of Safety and Reliability, *Journal of Engineering for Industry*, Paper No. 73-WA/DEI.
- Dhillon B. S., Bibliography of Literature on Safety Factors, *Microelectron. Reliab.*, Vol. 29 (2), 1989, pp. 267-280.

Elishakoff I., Probabilistic Theory of Structures, Dover, New York, 1999.

- Esteva L. and Rosenblueth E., Use of Reliability Theory in Building Codes, *Applications* of Statistics and Probability to Soil and Structural Engineering, Hong Kong, 1971.
- Freudenthal A. M., The Safety Factor, The Inelastic Behavior of Engineering Materials and Strucutres, Wiley, New York, 1950, pp. 477-480.
- Leoparti E., The Assessment of Structural Safety, Research Studies Press, Forest Grove, Oregon, 1979.
- Miller I. and Freund J. E., Tolerance Limits, *Probability and Statistics for Engineers*, Prentice Hall, Englewood Cloffs, 1977, pp. 514-517.
- Mischke C., A Method of Relating Factor of Safety and Reliability, Journal of Engineering for Industry, 1970, pp. 537-542.
- Neal D. M., Mattew W. T. and Vangel M. G., Model Sensitivities in Stress-Strength Reliability Computations, Materials Technology Laboratory, TR 91-3, Watertown, MA, Jan. 1991.
- Vizir P. L., Reliability of an Element of the System, Loads and Reliability of Civil Constructions, "ZNIISK" Publishers, Moscow, 1973, pp. 26-42 (in Russian).

REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE

Form Approved

Public reporting burden for this collection of infor gathering and maintaining the data needed, and collection of information, including suggestions fo Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202	mation is estimated to average 1 hour per re completing and reviewing the collection of in r reducing this burden, to Washington Head 24302, and to the Office of Management an	esponse, including the time for revi formation. Send comments regard quarters Services, Directorate for Ir d Budget, Paperwork Reduction Pr	ewing instructions, searching existing data sources, ing this burden estimate or any other aspect of this formation Operations and Reports, 1215 Jefferson oject (0704-0188), Washington, DC 20503.
1. AGENCY USE ONLY (Leave blank)	2. REPORT DATE	3. REPORT TYPE AND	DATES COVERED
	November 2001	Fii	hal Contractor Report
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE Iterrelation Between Safety F	factors and Reliability		5. FUNDING NUMBERS
6. AUTHOR(S)			WU-910-30-11-00
Isaac Elishakoff			NA33-90000
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES)			8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER
Florida Atlantic University			
Department of Mechanical University			E-13111
500 NW 20th Street			
Boca Raton, Florida 33431			
. SPONSORING/MONITORING AGENCY NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES)			10. SPONSORING/MONITORING AGENCY REPORT NUMBER
National Aeronautics and Space Administration Washington, DC 20546–0001			NASA CR—2001-211309
12a. DISTRIBUTION/AVAILABILITY ST	ATEMENT		12b. DISTRIBUTION CODE
Unclassified - Unlimited Subject Category: 39	Distrib	ution: Nonstandard	
Available electronically at http://gltrs.grc.nasa.gov/GLTRS			
This publication is available from the NASA Center for AeroSpace Information. 301-621-0390.			
An evaluation was performed obtained show that the use of many cases the safety factors difference that must be emph approach offers a unified mat	I to establish relationships betw the safety factor is not contrad can be directly expressed by the asized: whereas the safety fact thematical framework. The esta	veen safety factors and relictory to the employment he required reliability levers are allocated in an action of the interretion of the interretion	eliability relationships. Results nt of the probabilistic methods. In yels. However, there is a major d hoc manner, the probabilistic lation between the concepts opens an
avenue to specify safety factor of safety factors should be bas suggests that by the probabilit includes three parts: Part 1–R Random Yield Stress; Part 3–	ors based on reliability. In cases used on having the same reliabi istic methods the existing over- tandom Actual Stress and Dete Both Actual Stress and Yield S	s where there are several lity associated with each design or under-design o rministic Yield Stress; P tress Are Random.	forms of failure, then the allocation failure mode. This immediately can be eliminated. The report art 2–Deterministic Actual Stress and
14. SUBJECT TERMS	15. NUMBER OF PAGES		
Safety factor; Reliability; Stress; Strength; Methods; Structural safety			16. PRICE CODE
17. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION 11 OF REPORT	8. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE	19. SECURITY CLASSIFICA OF ABSTRACT	TION 20. LIMITATION OF ABSTRACT
Unclassified	Unclassified	Unclassified	
ISN 7540-01-280-5500			Standard Form 298 (Rev. 2-89)